ORIGINAL

Y

In the

Supreme Court

of the

State of California

APR -9 2010

A

RECEIVED

APR - 9 2010

S179252

CLERK SUPREME COURT

CENTURY NATIONAL INSURANCE COMPANY,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

V.

JESUS GARCIA, SR. and THEODORA GARCIA,

Defendants-Appellants.

CALIFORNIA COURT OF APPEAL · SECOND APPELLATE DISTRICT · NO. B209616 SUPERIOR COURT OF LOS ANGELES · MAUREEN DUFFY-LEWIS · NO. BC379522

OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

STEPHEN M. LOSH, ESQ. (127508)
ANGELICA M. LEON, ESQ. (224719)
BEVERLY HILLS LAW ASSOCIATES
9461 Charleville Boulevard
PMB 613
Beverly Hills, California 90212
(310) 552-2490 Telephone
(310) 552-7891 Facsimile

ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. May an insurer enforce an exclusion clause in a fire insurance policy that denies coverage to innocent insureds for damages from a fire intentionally caused by a coinsured, or does such a clause impermissably reduce coverage below that, which is statutorily mandated?

I. INTRODUCTION

By this appeal, Defendants/Petitioners Jesus Garcia, Sr. and Theodora Garcia ("Petitioners") respectfully seek reversal of the Trial Court's ruling sustaining a Demurrer to Petitioners Cross-Complaint without leave to amend and the subsequent entry of Judgment of Dismissal of Petitioners' Cross-Complaint, entered in favor of Respondent Century National Insurance Company ("Respondent") and the affirmation of the Trial Court's ruling by the Court of Appeal Second Appellate District, Division Seven, holding that Respondent's fire insurance policy exclusion clause in question can defeat the rights of innocent insureds when the property is arsoned by a co-insured, effectively diminishing Petitioners' fire insurance coverage below the minimum required by *California Insurance Code* §2071.

II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Defendants/Petitioners' home ("the Property") suffered substantial damage as a result of a fire ("the Loss") which occurred on May 2, 2007. CT 05, ¶7. ¹ At the time of the Loss, the Property was covered under a homeowner's insurance policy ("Policy") issued by Respondent, to Petitioner Jesus Garcia, Sr. only. Petitioner Theodora Garcia is not named on the Policy, but was an insured on the Policy because she was the wife of

All references are to page numbers with surplus zeros removed in the Clerk's Transcript unless otherwise noted.

the named insured and lived at the Property at the time of the Loss. CT 06, ¶15

Petitioners' son, Jesus Garcia, Jr. was also not named on the Policy, but as he was living at the property at the time of the loss and legally related to Jesus Garcia, Sr., he was an also an insured under the Policy. Jesus Garcia, Jr. was arrested for arson in connection with the Loss and ultimately pled *Nolo Contendre* to the charge. CT 06, ¶¶12, 13, Request for Judicial Notice filed by Respondent and granted by the Court of Appeal.

Petitioners submitted a timely claim to Respondent under the Policy for the Loss. On July 3, 2007, Respondent sent Petitioners a letter informing them that Respondent refused to pay for the Loss, as it was caused by the intentional conduct of an insured, Jesus Garcia, Jr. Respondent's letter referred to paragraphs nine (9) and ten (10) of the "Exclusions" section of the Policy. These paragraphs stated the following acts were excluded from coverage under the Policy:

- "9. Intentional Loss, meaning a loss arising out of any act committed by or at the direction of any insured having the intent to cause the loss.
- 10. Dishonest, Fraud or Criminal Conduct of any insured." CT 05, ¶7, 06, ¶17, 18 and 19.

On October 22, 2007, Respondent filed a complaint seeking declaratory relief and asking for a judicial determination of the rights, obligations and liabilities of the parties under the Policy as they pertained to the Loss. CT 04

Petitioners' filed an Answer and Cross-Complaint on December 3, 2007. CT 040. In the Cross-Complaint, Petitioners alleged that the Policy did not comply with California fire insurance codes, as the Policy language excluded coverage for claims arising from the intentional acts of "any

insured", rather than from the intentional acts of "the insured", thereby affording its insureds less coverage than that mandated by the standard fire insurance policy requirements. Petitioners alleged that the language change from "the insured" to "any insured" in the Policy can exclude coverage under the Policy to innocent co-insureds, and that such exclusion contravenes the pertinent sections of California *Insurance Code* §2071, the California Standard Form Fire Insurance Policy, which refers throughout to "the insured." ² CT 042, II.14-21,047, ¶18, 049, ¶29.

Respondent demurred to Petitioners' Cross-Complaint on the basis that: 1) the language of its insurance policy was controlling; 2) that §2071 of the *Insurance Code* expressly authorizes changes to the language of the California Standard Form Fire Policy; 3) that its policy was presumptively correct pursuant to *Insurance Code* §1855.5; 4) that a bad faith cause of action cannot lie when there is a genuine dispute over the scope of an insurer's obligations under the policy; and, 5) that there cannot be a reformation to the policy, when its policy contains no mistake with regard to its compliance with the *Insurance Code*.

The Trial Court sustained Respondent's Demurrer without leave to amend. The Trial court ruled that the Policy excluded coverage for the intentional or criminal acts of any insured, so there was no breach of contract, that the existence of a genuine dispute precluded Petitioners' cause of action for breach of the implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing, and finally, that the Cross-Complaint failed to state a cause of action for reformation.

² All statutory references are to California Insurance Code unless otherwise stated.

B. PROCEDURAL HISTORY

October 22, 2007 Respondent filed its Complaint. CT 04. On December 3, 2007, Petitioners filed their Answer to the Complaint and a Cross-Complaint. CT 040. On January 2, 2008, Respondent filed a Demurrer to Petitioners' Cross-Complaint. CT 058. On March 26, 2008, Petitioners filed an Opposition to Respondent's Demurrer. CT 109. On April 3, 2008, Respondent filed its Reply. CT 120. On April 10, 2008, the Trial Court sustained Respondent's Demurrer without leave to amend and subsequently dismissed the case on May 20, 2008. CT 127, 131. On May 20, 2008, Respondent filed a Request for Dismissal of Petitioners' Cross-Complaint. CT 134. Notice of Entry of Judgment of Dismissal was entered on May 28, 2008 and was served by mail by Respondent's counsel on the same date. CT 136, 137.

On July 24, 2008, Petitioners timely filed a Notice of Appeal. CT 139. On December 2, 2009, the Court of Appeal affirmed the Trial Court's ruling. On December 17, 2009, Petitioners filed a Petition for Rehearing, which was denied on December 22, 2009. Thereafter, this Court granted Petitioners' petition for review.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The Appellate Court "review[s] the Trial Court's sustaining of a demurrer without leave to amend *de novo*, exercising independent judgment as to whether a cause of action has been stated as a matter of law." (*People ex rel. Lungren v. Superior Court* (1996) 14 Cal.4th 294, 300 [58 Cal.Rptr.2d 855]; *Moore v. Regents of University of California* (1990) 51 Cal.3d 120, 125 [271 Cal.Rptr. 146].) Since this appeal is from a judgment of dismissal entered after the trial court sustained Respondent's Demurrer, under settled law, the Court "must assume the truth of all properly pleaded material allegations of the Complaint, and give it a reasonable

interpretation by reading it as a whole and its parts in their context." (*Phillips et al. v. Desert Hospital District* (1989) 49 Cal.3d 699, 702 [263 Cal.Rptr. 119].)

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The exclusion clause in the Century National Insurance Company property insurance policy which reads "intentional Loss, meaning a loss arising out of any act committed by or at the direction of any insured having the intent to cause the loss and Dishonest, Fraud or Criminal Conduct of <u>any insured</u>, as applied in this case, is invalid as it diminishes the rights afforded the Petitioners under the provisons of the standard fire insurance policy, for a fire loss, as set forth in California Insurance Code §2071 and as controlled by California Insurance Code §2070. The underlined language changes the standard fire insurance policy language from the insured to any insured. The Court of Appeal in Watts v. Farmers Ins. Exchange (2002) 98 Cal. App. 4th 1246, following the modern trend throughout the United States, ruled that the definition of the insured in the standard fire insurance policy allows recovery by innocent insureds, when a co-insured commits an intentional act that violates the policy. This language change in Respondent's policy diminishes the rights of innocent co-insureds below that afforded by the standard fire insurance policy.

ARGUMENT

1. THE POLICY DOES NOT COMPORT TO INSURANCE CODE SECTIONS 2071 AND 2070.

The exclusion clause of Respondent's policy as applied to a loss caused by fire fails to comport to California law. *Insurance Code* §2071 sets forth the requirements for a standard form fire policy in this state.

Petitioners set forth in full the code section for the purpose of demonstrating the degree of inclusiveness of the section:

(a) The following is adopted as the standard form of fire insurance policy for this state: California Standard Form Fire Insurance Policy (Space for insertion of name of company or companies issuing the policy and other matter permitted to be stated at the head of the policy.) (Space for listing amounts of insurance, rates and premiums for the basic coverages insured under the standard form of policy and for additional coverages or perils insured under endorsements attached.) In consideration of the provisions and stipulations herein or added hereto and of dollars premium this company, for the term of from the _____, day of) At 12:01 ____, 20 ____ a.m., to the _____, 20 ____, time, at location of property involved, to an amount not exceeding __dollars, does insure ____ and legal representatives, to the extent of the actual cash value of the property at the time of loss, but not exceeding the amount which it would cost to repair or replace the property with material of like kind and quality within a reasonable time after the loss, without allowance for any increased cost of repair or reconstruction by reason of any ordinance or law regulating construction or repair, and without compensation for loss resulting from

interruption of business or manufacture, nor in any event for more than the interest of the insured, against all LOSS BY FIRE, LIGHTNING AND BY REMOVAL FROM PREMISES ENDANGERED BY THE PERILS INSURED AGAINST IN THIS POLICY, EXCEPT AS HEREINAFTER PROVIDED, to the property described hereinafter while located or contained as described in this policy, or pro rata for five days at each proper place to which any of the property shall necessarily be removed for preservation from the perils insured against in this policy, but not elsewhere.

Assignment of this policy shall not be valid except with the written consent of this company.

This policy is made and accepted subject to the foregoing provisions and stipulations and those hereinafter stated, which are hereby made a part of this policy, together with any other provisions, stipulations and agreements as may be added hereto, as provided in this policy.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, this company has executed and attested these presents; but this policy shall not be valid unless countersigned by the duly authorized agent of this company at

Secretary.			
President.			
Countersigned this	day of		, 20
		Agent	

Concealment, fraud

This entire policy shall be void if, whether before or after a loss, the insured has willfully concealed or misrepresented any material fact or circumstance concerning this insurance or the subject thereof, or the interest of the insured therein, or in case of any fraud or false swearing by the insured relating thereto.

Uninsurable and excepted property

This policy shall not cover accounts, bills, currency, deeds, evidences of debt, money or securities; nor, unless specifically named hereon in writing, bullion or manuscripts.

Perils not included

This company shall not be liable for loss by fire or other perils insured against in this policy caused, directly or indirectly, by: (a) enemy attack by armed forces, including action taken by military, naval or air forces in resisting an actual or an immediately impending enemy attack; (b) invasion; (c) insurrection; (d) rebellion; (e) revolution; (f) civil war; (g) usurped power; (h) order of any civil authority except acts of destruction at the time of and for the purpose of preventing the spread of fire, provided that the fire did not originate from any of the perils excluded by this policy; (i) neglect of the insured to use all reasonable means to save and preserve the property at and after a loss, or when the property is endangered by fire in neighboring premises; (j) nor shall this company be liable for loss by theft.

Other insurance

Other insurance may be prohibited or the amount of insurance may be limited by endorsement attached hereto.

Conditions suspending or restricting insurance

Unless otherwise provided in writing added hereto this company shall not be liable for loss occurring

(a) while the hazard is increased by any means within the control or knowledge of the insured; or (b) while a described building, whether intended for occupancy by owner or tenant, is vacant or unoccupied beyond a period of 60 consecutive days; or (c) as a result of explosion or riot, unless fire ensues, and in that event for loss by fire only

Other perils or subjects

Any other peril to be insured against or subject of insurance to be covered in this policy shall be by endorsement in writing hereon or added hereto.

Added provisions

The extent of the application of insurance under this policy and of the contribution to be made by this company in case of loss, and any other provision or agreement not inconsistent with the provisions of this policy, may be provided for in writing added hereto, but no provision may be waived except such as by the terms of this policy or by statute is subject to change.

Waiver provisions

No permission affecting this insurance shall exist, or waiver of any provision be valid, unless granted herein or expressed in writing added hereto. No provision, stipulation or forfeiture shall be held to be waived by any requirement or proceeding on the part of this company relating to appraisal or to any examination provided for herein.

Cancellation of policy

This policy shall be canceled at any time at the request of the insured, in which case this company shall, upon demand and surrender of this policy, refund the excess of paid premium above the customary short rates for the expired time. This policy may be canceled at any time by this company by giving to the insured a 20 days' written notice of cancellation with or without tender of the excess of paid premium above the pro rata premium for the expired time, which excess, if not tendered, shall be refunded on demand. Notice of cancellation shall state that said excess premium (if not tendered) will be refunded on demand. If the reason for cancellation is nonpayment of premium, this policy may be canceled by this company by giving to the insured a 10 days' written notice of cancellation.

Mortgagee interests and obligations

If loss hereunder is made payable, in whole or in part, to a designated mortgagee not named herein as the insured, the interest in this policy may be canceled by giving to the mortgagee a 10 days' written notice of cancellation.

If the insured fails to render proof of loss the mortgagee, upon notice, shall render proof of loss in the form herein specified within 60 days thereafter and shall be subject to the provisions hereof relating to appraisal and time of payment and of bringing suit. If this company shall claim that no

liability existed as to the mortgagor or owner, it shall, to the extent of payment of loss to the mortgagee, be subrogated to all the mortgagee's rights of recovery, but without impairing mortgagee's right to sue; or it may pay off the mortgage debt and require an assignment thereof and of the mortgage.

Other provisions relating to the interests and obligations of the mortgagee may be added hereto by agreement in writing.

Pro rata liability

This company shall not be liable for a greater proportion of any loss than the amount hereby insured shall bear to the whole insurance covering the property against the peril involved, whether collectible or not.

Requirements in case loss occurs

The insured shall give written notice to this company of any loss without unnecessary delay, protect the property from further damage, forthwith separate the damaged and undamaged personal property, put it in the best possible order, furnish a complete inventory of the destroyed, damaged and undamaged property, showing in detail quantities, costs, actual cash value and amount of loss claimed; and within 60 days after the loss, unless the time is extended in writing by this company, the insured shall render to this company a proof of loss, signed and sworn to by the insured, stating the knowledge and belief of the insured as to the following: the time and origin of the loss, the interest of the insured and of all others in the property, the actual cash value of each item thereof and the amount of loss thereto, all encumbrances thereon, all other contracts of

insurance, whether valid or not, covering any of said property, any changes in the title, use, occupation, location, possession or exposures of said property since the issuing of this policy, by whom and for what purpose any building herein described and the several parts thereof were occupied at the time of loss and whether or not it then stood on leased ground, and shall furnish a copy of all the descriptions and schedules in all policies and, if required and obtainable, verified plans and specifications of any building, fixtures or machinery destroyed or damaged.

The insured, as often as may be reasonably required and subject to the provisions of Section 2071.1, shall exhibit to any person designated by this company all that remains of any property herein described, and submit to examinations under oath by any person named by this company, and subscribe the same; and, as often as may be reasonably required, shall produce for examinations all books of account, bills, invoices, and other vouchers, or certified copies thereof if the originals be lost, at any reasonable time and place as may be designated by this company or its representative, and shall permit extracts and copies thereof to be made. The insurer shall inform the insured that tax returns are privileged against disclosure under applicable law but may be necessary to process or determine the claim. The insurer shall notify every claimant that they may obtain, upon request, copies of claim-related documents. For purposes of this section, "claim-related documents" means all documents that relate to the evaluation of damages,

including, but not limited to, repair and replacement estimates and bids, appraisals, scopes of loss, drawings, plans, reports, third-party findings on the amount of loss, covered damages, and cost of repairs, and all other valuation, measurement, and loss adjustment calculations of the amount of loss, covered damage, and cost of repairs. However, attorney work product and attorney-client privileged documents, and documents that indicate fraud by the insured or that contain medically privileged information, are excluded from the documents an insurer is required to provide pursuant to this section to a claimant. Within 15 calendar days after receiving a request from an insured for claim-related documents, the insurer shall provide the insured with copies of all claim-related documents, except those excluded by this section. Nothing in this section shall be construed to affect existing litigation discovery rights. After a covered loss, the insurer shall provide, free of charge, a complete, current copy of this policy within 30 calendar days of receipt of a request from the insured. The time period for providing this policy may be extended by the Insurance Commissioner.

An insured who does not experience a covered loss shall, upon request, be entitled to one free copy of this policy annually. The policy provided to the insured shall include, where applicable, the policy declarations page.

Appraisal

In case the insured and this company shall fail to agree as to the actual cash value or the amount of loss, then, on the

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