Supreme Court Case Number S179252

Second Civil Number B209616

In the Supreme Court of the State of California

JUN 8 - 2010

CLERK SUPREME COURT

CENTURY-NATIONAL INSURANCE COMPANY,

Plaintiff and Respondent,

v.

JESUS GARCIA, SR., THEODORA GARCIA and JESUS GARCIA, JR.,

Defendants and Appellants.

California Court of Appeal - Second Appellate District - No. B2009616 Superior Court of Los Angeles County - No. BC379522, The Honorable Maureen Duffy-Lewis, Judge

CENTURY-NATIONAL INSURANCE COMPANY'S ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

HAIGHT BROWN & BONESTEEL LLP

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

Regarding the "increase in hazard" provision, respondent explained extensively in the court below that no California court has interpreted this provision as being in the nature of an intentional act exclusion. Rather, the California courts have interpreted this provision to apply to changes in the structure or use of the insured premises. (See, e.g., Mackintosh v. Agricultural Fire Ins. Co. (1907) 150 Cal. 440, 446 [erection of a smelting furnace]; Rizzuto v. National Reserve Ins. Co. (1949) 92 Cal.App.2d 143, 148 [use as a barber shop].) Moreover, the increase in hazard condition is prefaced: "[u]nless otherwise provided in writing," indicating that it may be modified and is, therefore, not absolute.

The only provision constituting an actual exclusion based upon "malfeasance" by an insured is the concealment and fraud exclusion. In

contending that the Legislature was mandating coverage for all co-insureds regardless of the circumstances, appellants narrowly focus on the provision's use of the words "the insured" as dispositive. The statutory fire policy reads:

"Concealment, fraud. This entire policy shall be void if, whether before or after a loss, the insured willfully has concealed or misrepresented any material fact or circumstance concerning this insurance, or the subject thereof, or the interest of the insured therein, or in any case of fraud or false swearing by the insured relating thereto. (Ins. Code § 2071; New York Standard Fire Policy, In. 1-6.)

Century-National argued below, and continues to contend, that this provision of the fire policy is not dispositive, because it factually does not apply. It was undisputed that nobody lied or inflated the claim. This is literally not a fraud or false swearing case. Yet, despite agreeing that there was no concealment or misrepresentation involved, appellants nonetheless point to the provision as dispositive. Appellants are bootstrapping their argument that any and all exclusions must use the words "the insured" to the standard policy's concealment and fraud exclusion.

The concealment and fraud exclusion in the standard fire policy has no such broad scope. In Leasure v. MSI Ins. Co. (1998) 65 Cal.App.4th 244, 248, the Court of Appeal found that the fraud and false swearing provision of the standard policy is limited to misrepresentations concerning the factual circumstances underlying the claim at hand. Thus, the provision did not operate to void coverage where the insureds forged the signatures of lienholders on checks issued to pay prior insurance claims. According to that court: "The false representations that the lienholders endorsed the checks are not material representations because they do not relate to MSI's investigation to determine its obligations under the policy." (Id. at 248.)

In Mitchell v. United National Ins. Co. (2005) 127 Cal. App.4th 457, 463, the Court of Appeal was asked to rule that the provision's requirement for "willful" concealment or misrepresentation meant that for the risk of fire only, an insurer had to show intentional misrepresentation to avoid coverage. That court disagreed, holding that the generally applicable principles of insurance law permit an insurer to rescind an insurance policy for negligent or unintentional misrepresentations "notwithstanding the willful misrepresentation clause included in the required standard form fire insurance policy." (Id., at 463.)

There was no discussion in those cases of co-insureds, but the fact is that courts reading the fraud and false swearing exclusion have declined to extend the provision beyond its own terms or attach special meaning to it. Despite appellants' claim that the provision governs interpretation of all obligations under a fire policy, the fraud and false swearing provision has no overarching talismanic effect. Thus, there is no authority to support appellants' proposition that the standard fire policy's concealment and fraud exclusion applies to anything other than fraud or false swearing. It simply does not apply here.

As pointed out by the court below, the fire policy statute is silent on intentional and criminal acts, and "there is no statutory prescription of the form of exclusionary language relating to such conduct." Since the exclusions in respondent's policy are outside the terms of the fire policy statute, and are otherwise accepted as consistent with law and public policy, they do not abrogate appellants' rights or provide "less" coverage than required in a fire policy.

However, appellants asked the appellate court to rule, and are once again asserting, that if the Legislature were to add intentional and/or criminal acts to the provisions of the statutory fire policy, it would likewise use "the insured," rather than the term "any insured" found in Century-National's policy. In purporting to divine the Legislature's intent, however, appellants fail to account for the context in which the statutory fire policy was enacted, and are judging it by subsequent case law that developed much later.

As explained by the court in *Mitchell v. United National Ins. Co., supra*, the first standard fire policy law was enacted in Massachusetts in 1873. New York enacted its first legislation on the subject in 1886, followed by the 1891 policy and the current 1943 policy. Between 1873 and 1942, many different standard fire policies were used in the several states. The most widely-copied standard fire policy was adopted by law in New York State in 1943. (*Mitchell, supra*, 127 Cal.App.4th at 470, fn. 4.) Further, California law first provided for a standard form fire insurance policy in 1909 (Stats. 1909, ch. 267, p. 404), and the current version, also known as the "165 Line" policy, was enacted in 1949. (Stats. 1949, ch. 556, § 2, p. 955); *Mitchell, supra*, 127 Cal.App.4th at 472, fn. 6.)

Yet, against that historical background spanning the first half of the 20th Century, appellants seek to interpret the statutory fire policy under the modern cases applicable to Century-National's policy. That is, appellants are asking the Court to *infer* that, at the time of the adoption of the current fire policy in 1949, the Legislature was giving the term "the insured" the same singular meaning and importance that it has since been determined to have in relation to modern intentional and criminal act exclusions. However, appellants have not cited (nor can they) to any evidence that either the drafters of the standard fire policy or the California Legislature ever considered the difference between use of the term "any" versus "the" insured, or that a special meaning must attach.

Appellants point to no authority that, at the time the standard fire policy was adopted, such a distinction was recognized, and early decisions generally held that an innocent co-insured *could not* recover under the policy where another insured purposely set the insured property on fire. Rather, the courts reasoned that co-insureds under the policy had a joint responsibility, usually as joint owners of the insured property, to abide by the policy's conditions:

"When a policy insures joint owners, and contains a condition that the insurance shall not embrace damage resulting from a voluntary increase of hazard, or neglect to use reasonable means to preserve the property, committed by 'the insured,' this condition manifestly is intended to apply to the joint tenants, as together constituting 'the insured,' and to impose upon them, by construction, or by implication, whichever expression may be preferred, a joint duty and obligation to observe good faith toward the insurer. If either of them fraudulently violated the good faith owing to the insurer, I think both [insureds] are chargeable with and affected by such violation, to the extent of its operating as an obstacle to recovery; and especially so where, but for the fraudulent breach of faith, there would have been no fire, and hence no liability of the insurer upon the policy could have arisen." (Matyuf v. Phoenix Ins. Co. (Pa. 1933) 27 Pa.D.&C.2d 351, 361.)

Thus, the early courts looked to the nature of the property interest – usually joint tenancy – and the marital relationship, to bolster the conclusion that the rights and obligations were joint. The courts reasoned that when the property was jointly owned, the insurance policy was presupposed to be joint because the insurable interest was deemed to be indivisible. That presupposition of a joint insurance policy was also bolstered by the notion that a married couple constitutes a single entity under the law. (Kosior v. Continental Ins. Co. (1938) 299 Mass. 601, 604 [fire insurance policy insuring two jointly and void upon fraud of "the insured" was avoided by the fraud of one insured in which the other had no part]; Klemens v. Badger Mut. Ins. Co. (1959) 8 Wis.2d 565, 568 [insurance written in the joint names of the insureds, creates a joint obligation to comply with the terms of the policy] [overruled by *Hedtcke v. Sentry Ins.* Co. (1982) 109 Wis.2d 461, 482]; Jones v. Fidelity & Guaranty Ins. Corp. (Tex.Civ.App. 1952) 250 S.W.2d 281, 283 [same] [disapproved by *Kulubis* v. Texas Farm Bureau Underwriters Ins. Co. (Tex. 1986) 706 S.W.2d 953, 954].)

Indeed, that was also the law in California. In Watts v. Farmers Insurance Exchange (2002) 98 Cal.App.4th 1246, 1252, the insurer argued that joint marital ownership precluded recovery by one spouse where the other burned the house. In that case, the insurer was relying on Erlin-Lawler Enterprises, Inc. v. Fire Ins. Exchange (1968) 267 Cal.App.2d 381, 385, which involved the burning of a family-owned supermarket in Inglewood. Rejecting that argument, the Watts court pointed out that Erlin-Lawler did not involve jointly held marital property, but rather, both family and corporate shareholder interests. (Watts, supra, 98 Cal.App.4th at 1252.) According to the Watts court, the issue and rule of Erlin-Lawler was not mere joint ownership but instead, the analysis of benefits that might flow from the actions of the wrongdoer. (Watts, supra, 98 Cal.App.4th at 1252-53.)

The Watts court rejected the Erin-Lawler approach, holding that interpretation of insurance contracts is governed in the first instance by the specific words of the policy. (Id., at 1260.) However, one reasonable interpretation of Erlin-Lawler is that joint responsibility was, in fact, an accepted theory that barred insurance coverage under California law. "The basic function of the court is to see that no one takes advantage of his own wrong. . . . An analysis must be made in each case to see if the arsonist will benefit by the recovery on the policy, either directly or indirectly." (Erlin-Lawler, supra, 267 Cal.App.2d at 385.)

If anything, the *Erlin-Lawler* court laid down an even more restrictive rule than simple reliance on joint marital interests, because that decision can be read as authorizing the denial of coverage to co-insureds other than spouses, including corporate shareholders, directors, officers, partners, joint venturers, community property holders and joint tenants, all of whom could be barred from coverage, if, according to the *Erlin-Lawler* court, some benefit will flow to the wrongdoer as a result of the property's destruction. (*Id.*, at 387.)

While the *Erlin-Lawler* court made no reference to *Insurance Code* section 2071 or the standard fire policy, it was presumably taking the statutory terms into account, since they are automatically incorporated into

every fire policy issued in the State. (Ins. Code § 2070.) There is a presumption that in performing their duties, courts are following all laws. (Civ. Code § 3548; Wolfgram v. Wells Fargo Bank (1997) 53 Cal.App.4th 43, 60.) Yet, the Erlin-Lawler court did, in fact, rule that in the proper situation, coverage for a fire loss would be barred for an innocent coinsured. (Erlin-Lawler, supra, 267 Cal.App.2d at 385.) The Erlin-Lawler court merely sent that matter back to the trial court to make the requisite inquiry into the benefits potentially accruing to the various insureds.

As it stands today, *Erlin-Lawler* has never been overruled or disapproved and is still binding on the trial courts in California. (*Gwartz v. Superior Court* (1999) 71 Cal.App.4th 480, 481-82.) At best, *Watts* creates a split of authority on the topic. (*Auto Equity Sales, Inc. v. Superior Court* (1962) 57 Cal.2d 450, 456.)

But the *Watts* court highlighted an issue raised by *Erlin-Lawler*. Forcing insurers and the courts to engage in some nebulous analysis of the benefits flowing to each respective insured could ultimately prove unworkable. That is particularly true given the current state of the economy. What is a benefit? For example, does a teenager who sees the family being crushed by the weight of an underwater or upside-down mortgage receive a benefit by burning the house? Despite having no ownership interest, he may perceive a benefit in freeing the family from an economic burden. Thus, the answer could be both "yes" and "no" at the same time. That is a vague and ambiguous standard for deciding insurance coverage, and the *Watts* court held that, instead, the outcome is determined by the words of the insurance contract.

The importance of *Erlin-Lawler* here, however, is that, contrary to appellants' claim, it cannot be inferred that the Legislature necessarily intended that all rights and obligations be several under the statutory fire policy merely because it used the words "the insured" in *Insurance Code section* 2071. While the joint responsibility doctrine has been eroded, the fact is that nothing in the prior law suggests that the drafters of the standard policy or the California Legislature sought to imbue the words "the insured" with the meaning or significance that has since been recognized in

relation to the terms "an insured" or "any insured" found in modern personal insurance policies.

Perhaps more significant than the historical context of the standard fire policy, the fact is that appellants are simply misreading the words of the policy. Appellants argue that coverage, and any exclusion for malfeasance, must be purely several. They argue that the Legislature's use of the words "the insured" in the fraud and false swearing exclusion of the statutory policy means that any exclusion for malfeasance will only operate to exclude coverage for the insured wrongdoer. But that ignores the actual words of the statutory policy's concealment and fraud exclusion itself.

In fact, the fraud exclusion of the standard fire policy actually begins with the words "This entire policy shall be void if. . . ." Ins. Code § 2071, Concealment, fraud; 1943 New York Standard Fire Policy, In. 1 [emphasis added].) That phrase completely counters the interpretation advanced by appellants that the exclusion will only operate severally, and instead demonstrates that the Legislature intended for fraud by one to void the policy for all insureds. If the entire policy is void, the only possible meaning is that it is void as to all insureds when one insured commits fraud.

It is incongruous that appellants and the foreign courts on which they rely would attach so much importance and meaning to two words in a contractual provision ("the insured") while utterly ignoring other words in that same provision ("this entire policy shall be void") when the plain and ordinary meaning of those words has precisely the opposite effect that appellants assert. The Michigan Supreme Court in *Borman v. State Farm* (1994) 446 Mich. 482, duly quoted the full wording of the New York standard policy's fraud and concealment provision, including the words "this entire policy shall be void," but then proceeded to fix on the words "the insured" to declare a provision barring coverage for "any insured" to be in "conflict with a standard policy prescribing a provision voiding the policy because of the wrongful conduct of 'the insured." (*Id.*, at 492.) But there really is no conflict because a fair reading of the whole of the fraud and concealment provision in the standard policy is that it achieves the

same result as an exclusion for intentional or criminal acts of "any insured," by voiding the "entire policy" when fraud or misrepresentation occurs.

As noted by respondent below, the Michigan courts were actually cognizant that they were going outside the parameters of the standard policy. At the intermediate appellate level of the *Borman* case, the Michigan appeals court noted this point, but dismissed it saying: "While strictly speaking the 'intentional wrongs' exclusion in defendant's policy is distinct from the 'fraud' exclusion, we find that the interests of the innocent insured should be protected in either case." (*Borman v. State Farm Fire & Cas. Co.* (1993) 198 Mich.App.675, 681.) Thus, rather than determining Legislative intent, the Michigan courts were themselves legislating.

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